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MEMORANDUM

To: Zoning Board of Appeals

From: Allegra DeNooyer, Planner II

Date: March 7, 2024

Subject: ZBA 24-02 – 2849 Sumac Drive, Parcel ID #06 307 02 006

REQUEST
Brandon and Lekeisha Johnson, homeowners at 2849 Sumac Drive, Dunwoody, GA, 30360, request a 
variance from Chapter 27, Section 269 to allow a retaining wall to encroach into the side and rear 
setback. 

APPLICANT
Property Owner: 

Brandon and Lekeisha Johnson

BACKGROUND & PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
The subject lot, 2849 Sumac Drive, is zoned Single-dwelling Residential-100 (R-100) and abuts R-100 
on all sides. The subject lot is 0.6 acres and is currently developed with a 2,438 SF one-story building 
constructed in 1965 and remodeled in 1991.

                                 Aerial image:                                                            Zoning Map: 

 

There is a 20-foot drainage easement along the rear property line. The drainage easement begins on the 
adjacent property (2841 Sumac Drive) and continues onto the subject property. While typically 
drainage easements are on the property line directly, this drainage easement is entirely on the subject 
property, not the rear property line. 

In November 2023, while conducting an inspection for the adjacent property, city staff noticed a new 
unpermitted 3-foot-tall retaining wall under construction at 2849 Sumac Drive. The new retaining wall 
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encroaches a maximum of 9 feet into the side setback and a maximum of 39 feet into the rear setback – 
remaining approximately 1 foot from the side and rear property lines -, prompting a variance request. 
The applicants have installed a fence while the property is under a stop work order – this fence meets 
the code requirements where it does not encroach into the drainage easement and is not part of the 
variance request.

Site Plan with Existing Conditions (Improvements Already Constructed)

REVIEW AND APPROVAL CRITERIA
Chapter 27, §27-397 identifies the following criteria for evaluation that should be examined when 
determining the appropriateness of a variance:

(1) The grant of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare or 
injurious to property or improvements;
(2) The variance request is based on conditions that (1) are unique to the subject property (2) 
are not generally applicable to other properties in the same zoning district and (3) were not 
created by the owner or applicant;
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(3) Because of the particular conditions, shape, size, orientation or topographic conditions, the 
strict application of the requirements of this zoning ordinance would deprive the property 
owner of rights and privileges enjoyed by other similarly situated property owners;
(4) The requested variance does not go beyond the minimum necessary to afford relief, and 
does not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitations upon other 
similarly situated properties;
(5) The literal interpretation and strict application of the applicable provisions or requirements 
of this zoning ordinance would cause undue hardship or practical difficulty, as distinguished 
from a mere inconvenience; and
(6) The requested variance would be consistent with the spirit and purpose of this zoning 
ordinance and the comprehensive plan.

The encroachment of the 30-inch-tall retaining wall into the side and rear setback would normally 
prompt a Special Administrative Permit. However, since the work was done without a permit, the 
applicant is required to obtain a variance. The applicant states that the retaining wall was an updated 
replacement; however, there is no documentation of a previously existing retaining wall. Therefore, 
staff considers the retaining wall to be new construction. The exact conditions on the subject property 
prior to the wall installation are unknown due to the unpermitted work.

The subject property drops off approximately 20 feet from the property line along Sumac Drive to the 
rear of the property, creating a sloped backyard. At only 30 inches tall, the retaining wall is a relatively 
minor improvement. Without accounting for the unique conditions of the site, the strict application of 
the setbacks would prevent incremental changes to the use of the property, which staff considers a 
practical difficulty. 

There is a 20-foot drainage easement along most of the rear property line of the subject property which 
begins at the adjacent lot and which was intended to be ditched by the original developer. 

Plat Showing Drainage Easement for the Subdivision
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The neighborhood has existing drainage concerns, which were reported on in a 2020 study conducted 
by an engineering firm and commissioned by the City of Dunwoody. This study states that the drainage 
ditch in question on the subject and adjacent properties “has reduced conveyance capacity because it is 
heavily blocked by debris” and due to its “poor maintenance” and “alterations by the homeowners” in 
the area. The overall functioning of the initially installed ditch is likely poor; however any future fixes 
would require the area of the drainage easement. Staff thus considers the section of the retaining wall 
located in the drainage easement to be injurious to property or improvements given that it blocks the 
drainage easement and has the potential to worsen drainage issues on adjacent properties and block 
future repair projects. If remaining, stormwater received from the property at 2841 Sumac Drive would 
not be able to pass through the subject property as intended and would be instead pushed to the 
adjacent properties to the rear.

Plat (Subject Property Outlined in Yellow)

COMMENTS FROM OTHER PARTIES
City Engineer, Kevin Moore: I would recommend removal of the fence, retaining wall and any fill 
material from the 20’ drainage easement in the rear of the property. This area should be returned to the 
condition it was in prior to the installation of the retaining wall and associated fill material.

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT RECOMMENDATION
Based on the above analysis and findings, staff has determined that the requested variance to allow a 
retaining wall to encroach into the side and rear setback do meet the requirements of Chapter 27, §27-
397; therefore, staff recommends APPROVAL of the request subject to the following conditions:

1. Construction must be in substantial compliance with the submitted site plan, prepared by 
the applicant, with the exception that the portion of the retaining wall, fence, and any fill 
material located in the 20-foot drainage easement be removed (See Appendix A). 

2. The fence, retaining wall, and fill material located in the 20-foot drainage easement along 
the rear property line shall be removed within 90 days of this variance approval and the 
previously existing conditions shall be re-established. A permit application to accomplish 
this shall be submitted within 30 days of this variance approval.
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ATTACHMENTS
 Staff Memo
 Appendix A, Site Plan, prepared by the applicant
 Appendix B, Site Photos
 Variance Application
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Appendix A, Site Plan
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Appendix B, Site Photos

The subject property is on the right side of the photo, from September 7, 2023.
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The retaining wall.

The new fence.
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